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Message from the President

==

Professor Pirom Kamolratanakul, M.D.

The first building for the Civil Service College of King Chulalongkorn was the Administrative
Building, presently known as Maha Chulalongkorn Building, according to H.M. King Vajiravudh’s address
on the occasion of the laying of the foundation stone at the central hall of the building on January
3rd, 1916. Subsequently, on March 26th, 1917, the king issued a royal proclamation elevating the
Civil Service College into Chulalongkorn University. Since then, a century has passed, and the university
is celebrating its centenary in the near future. During this century-long period, the university has
considerably grown, with the student body approaching the number of 39,039 at present.

During the first few decades, many of our buildings were designed with Thai characteristics,
and worth preserving for the future. Buildings such as the Auditorium, Maha Chulalongkorn Building,
and Maha Vajiravudh Building, are carefully maintained by the university as a mutual architectural
heritage for generations of students, faculty members, and university staff. The buildings stand as
witnesses to the long history of the university, and its role in supplying generations of graduates,
serving the needs of the Thai society in countless aspects.

Chulalongkorn University alums shall recall the pleasurable days of their student lives that have
been spent in these beautiful and historically-important buildings. Almost all of them remain standing
till today as mementos of pride, and a chance to study here at Chulalongkorn University, for the future
generations of students as well.

Professor Pirom Kamolratanakul, M.D.
President
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Message from the Vice President

C—=

Associate Professor Boonchai Stitmannaithum, D. Eng.

Chulalongkorn University’s physical resources were first established when H.M. King Vajiravudh
granted the royal permission to build the first building on campus, followed by the construction
of numerous other buildings through the century-long period of time. Some buildings have been
maintained, while others have been renovated and re-purposed, corresponding to the ever-changing
teaching and research activities, and the different styles of educational administration, through the
university’s long history.

Some of these century-old buildings remain in good condition, ready to be preserved as living
monuments that can still be efficiently used. Others, with less intrinsic values and in poor conditions,
might have to be replaced by new buildings, for a more efficient use of space. The university has a
limited amount of land area; green and permeable areas must be proportionally kept according to the
environmental laws, to ensure the university community eood health, and to maintain a satisfactory
standard of environment.

This publication is based on the research, entitled “A Centenary of Historic Buildings,
Chulalongkorn University,” by Assistant Professor Dr. Pirasri Povatong, and Jakaporn Suwannakorn,
of the Faculty of Architecture. The research analyzes the history and development of fifteen historic
buildings dating from the early years of the university, most of which have been carefully maintained
by the university for the present and the future. The outcome of that research is partly published in
this book, entitled “The Architecture of Chulalongkorn University : The First Century, Volume 1”
as a part of the university’s celebration of the centenary of its establishment in 2017. Chulalongkorn
University is proud to present in this volume the architectural history of the university, which should be
of interest to students of Thai architectural history, as well as those who are interested in the historical
development of Chulalongkorn University.

Associate Professor Boonchai Stitmannaithum, D. Eng.
Vice President
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Message from the Presidential Advisor

==

Professor Lersom Sthapitanonda

Architecture is one of the more refined arts, the intersection of artistic beauty and ways of life,
over a long period of time. Good architecture is frequently maintained, as it still possesses the power
to express the designer’s will and aspiration to the building’s users, from one generation to another.

The value of these historic buildings of Chulalongkorn University does not merely lie in the
century-long use. Rather, their value comes from their status as the physical embodiment of H.M. King
Chulalongkorn’s wish to establish a university, “an institution of higher learning for the people of Siam.”
The royal desire materialized with the commitment of H.M. King Vajiravudh, who, in a royal address,
expressed his wish to create “a large and permanent commemorative monument, which would also
be of enduring benefits to the nation of the Thais in the years to come.”

Through this university, the monarchs’ wishes have created generations of educated Thais,
who have spent their formative years in a number of these historic buildings, through studying and
other activities. Architecture is thus not merely a work of art that represents different aestheticism over
the passage of time, but also the abode of life for every student. It is also of particular importance to
architecture students, who have a great opportunity to learn, first-hand, the century-long development
of educational architecture in Thailand, through these fine buildings.

| wish to extend my sincere appreciation to the contributors who have participated in the
creation of “The Architecture of Chulalongkorn University : The First Century, Volume 1.” | would
also like to thank the Dean of the Faculty of Arts, Assistant Professor Dr. Prapod Assavavirulhakarn,
for coming up with a book title that is both evocative and elegant.

Professor Lersom Sthapitanonda
Presidential Advisor
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The New Palace

==

Joachim Grassi
1884

The New Palace—popularly known as Windsor
Palace-was located on the outer Bamrungmuang Road,
present-day Rama | Road. Built by King Chulalongkorn for
his son, H.R.H. the Crown Prince Maha Vajirunahis, the
palace was designed by Joachim Grassi, an Italian architect
and contractor, as early as 1880. The King presided over the
foundation stone laying ceremony on November 11, 1881,
and construction was completed in July 1884. However,
Prince Maha Vajirunahis never resided there, spending his
days in the Grand Palace until his demise in 1895.

The palace was a square-planned compound
surrounded by moats. The main entrance was on the outer
Bamrungmuang Road, or the northern side, with a carriage-
way going straight to the main residence, which was also
surrounded by the meandering lines of another moat.

On the south side were 2-storey wooden bungalows that
served as servants’ quarters forming a rectangular court.
The main residence was a 4-storey masonry structure,

with a waiting room, a salon, a sitting room, a banquet hall,
a breakfast parlour, and a bedroom with bath on the 1st
floor. The 2nd floor featured a dining room, a salon, a sitting
room, a billiard room, a library, and several bedrooms.

The 3rd floor had a living room, a sitting room, a cabinet of
curiosities, with a terrace roof. The plan was asymmetrically
arranged, and the building was Neo-Gothic in style. The
structure was largely masonry, with the use of granite and

marble pillars at certain parts. Flooring materials included
wood, marble, and patterned tiles. Window opening design
included Tudor arches on the two lower floors, and pointed
arches on the top floors. Exterior walls were stuccoed and
rusticated, with decorative crenellations along the parapets.
With such architectural style, European residents in Bangkok
then nicknamed the palace “Windsor Palace,” given its
resemblance to its namesake in Britain. Their Siamese
contemporaries called the building either Wang Klang Thung
[Palace in the Field], given its location outside the city proper,
or simply Wang Mai [the New Palace].

After the death of Prince Maha Vajirunahis, in 1896
King Chulalongkorn let the Survey Department used the
palace as the Survey School. In 1908, schools for agriculture
and irrigation were incorporated with the Survey School into
the Agricultural College, which used the main residence as
lecture halls, while the servants’ quarters were used as
residence halls.

In 1910 King Vajiravudh established King Chulalongkorn’s
Civil Service College, graciously granting the college the
permission to use 1,309 rai of Privy Purse land at Prathum-
wan, which included the New Palace and its grounds.

In 1913 the palace building was occupied by Rongrian

Yantrasuksa [the Engineering School]; a few years later
the Teachers’Training School and the School for Public
Administration also shared the New Palace compound.

12/10/2557 BE 9:59 PM ‘ ‘
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On March 26th, 1917, the Civil Service College was
elevated to become Chulalongkorn University. With four
initial faculties, the university began offering courses in the
following year. Since then, the New Palace served as the
Faculty of Arts and Science. The main residence was used
as the dean’s office, professors’offices, lecture halls and
laboratories for Physics, Chemistry, and Biology Departments.
The four bungalows south of the main residence were used
as residence halls, collectively known as Ho Wang [Palace
Residence Halls]. Some rooms on the ground floor of these
buildings were converted into lecture halls and examination
rooms.

After the completion of the Faculty of Science building
in 1929, the main residence of the New Palace was used
by the Teacher Training Department, until the Department
had its own building in 1935. Vacant of any use, in 1936 the
New Palace compound was rented out by the university
to the state, in order to build the National Stadium and
other sporting facilities. Accordingly, demolition of the New
Palace occurred by the end of that year, thereby ending
the life of the university’s first building.
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Ruen Pharotracha and the Residence of Dormitory Warden
(Residences of the University Principal and Professors)

=

Architect unknown
Circa 1913

Located on the west side of Phyathai Road were six
houses dating from the reign of King Vajiravudh. Originally
used as residences of the University’s Principal and
professors, the houses were partly masonry, partly wooden
in structure. With typical asymmetrical plans, ranging from
two-to three-storey in height, the houses shared common
features such as open ground floor lined with stout masonry
columns, hip or hip-gable roof covered with cement tiles,
decorated in parts with fine gingerbread-style wooden
decorations. Walls were largely louvered, while casement
windows were fitted with awning-style inset. Railings were
simple, with restrained use of gingerbread-style detail typical
of the period.

Probably constructed around 1913, the largest of these
houses was a three-storey mansion that originally served as

Later on, it served successively as the University Library, and
the Department of Architecture. The building was probably
demolished during the 1940s, replaced by the Secretariat
Building and the Office of the Yuwachon Nai Thahan
[Militarized Youth Movement] (present-day Chamchuri | and
Chamchuri Il buildings). Other houses were demolished
through the years. At present there are only two residences
left. One was once occupied by Chulalongkorn University
Demonstration School. In 1993 the university restored the
house and has since used it as a reception hall for major
university functions. It was named Ruen Pharotracha, after
Phraya Pharotracha (M.L. Thotsathit Isarasena), who held
the position of University Principal from 1929 to 1932.

The other remaining house used to be the residence of
Dormitory Warden, and will soon be restored and serve

the University Principal’s residence. By 1917 it was converted the Dormitories’ purposes.

and used as the office of the University Affairs Department.
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Maha Chulalongkorn Building

(Administration Building)

=

Edward Healey and Emilio Giovanni Gollo
1921

The Administration Building, presently Maha
Chulalongkorn Building, was originally built to house the
administrative offices and lecture halls for the Civil Service
College. The British architect Edward Healey, in collabora-
tion with an Italian engineer Emilio Giovanni Gollo, created
the design, and construction began on February 1st, 1915.
The building was the first one purposely built for the Civil
Service College, which would eventually be elevated to
become Siam’s first university. King Vajiravudh presided
over the laying of the foundation stone ceremony on
January 3rd, 1916 and delivered a royal address on the
occasion:

“H.M. King Chulalongkorn had long since wished to set
up a university for the people of Siam. However, due to
some obstacles, the plan failed to fully materialize during
his reign. |, as his heir, feel it is one of my immediate duties
to carry out his wish, knowing that once established, the
university will serve not merely as a large and permanent
memorial to the glory of H.M. King Chulalongkorn, the
nation’s beloved monarch, but will also be of enduring
benefits to the nation of the Thais in the years to come.”

The Administration Building was located near the
campus entrance on Racecourse Road (present-day Henri
Dunant Road). Placed lengthwise along the main street on
campus, the building fully received seasonal wind from the
south. A two-storey reinforced concrete structure with
gable roofs, the building was symmetrical in plan. A grand
staircase was placed at the central hall, with large lecture
halls at the eastern and western ends, all interconnected
with administrative offices and lecture halls. Wide verandas
wrapped around the entire building on both floors. Total
floor area was 4,660 square meters, with a construction
cost of 436,000 baht.

As per the Civil Service College Council’s wish, the
Administration Building was modern in terms of structure
and building materials, but in terms of architectural styles
it was manifestly an eclectic mix of traditional Thai styles:
Sukhothai-style roof decoration and ceiling panels, Khmer-
style staircase railing and balustrades, and Rattanakosin-style
decorative sculptures on the pediments made with cement.
The central hall’s pediment was adorned with the Coat of
Arms of the Kingdom of Siam. Those on the two side halls’
were decorated with the figure of Arun, the Hindu god of
dawn.
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Since its completion in 1921, the building has been a prominent
landmark on campus. It was first occupied by the university’s
administrative offices, together with the Faculty of Arts and Science.
During the reign of King Ananda Mahidol (r. 1935 - 1946), the Faculty
of Science separated from the Faculty of Arts and moved to its own
premises. At the same time, the university’s administrative offices
were moved to the new building on the other side of Phyathai Road,
so only the Faculty of Arts and the university’s Central Library
remained as the building’s occupants. Accordingly, the building
was subsequently renamed Aksonsat | (Arts ). Eventually, in 1997
the university undertook a major restoration of the building and
re-purposed it as a central space for ceremonial functions, with
conference halls and meeting rooms fully equipped with modern
facilities, while the historic building’s architectural integrity is carefully
maintained. It is also renamed Maha Chulalongkorn Building.

39
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Science Building

S

Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang)
1929

The Science Building, popularly known as Tuk Khao
[White Building], was located on the south side of the main
street on campus, facing the football field to its north. It was
the Faculty of Science’s first building of its own, because
since its establishment the Science Department had been
occupying the New Palace, on the northwest corner of the
campus.

Towards the end of King Vajiravudh’s reign, the Ministry
of Public Instruction began to modernize Siam’s medical
education. H.R.H. Prince Mahidol was instrumental in getting
a generous support from the Rockefeller Foundation, both in
terms of human resources and funding, to improve medical
education in Siam. In 1923 it was mutually agreed that the
Siamese government would build a modern laboratory
building for the teaching of sciences at Chulalongkorn
University. Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang),
the Director of the Architectural Section, Department of Fine
Arts, was the architect in charge, working in collaboration
with Luang Wisansinlapakam (Chua Patthamachinda).
Construction took three years, from 1926 to early 1929,
with the budeet of 100,000 baht.

The Science Building was a reinforced concrete structure,
two-storey high, with a basement floor. The building’s plan
was T-shaped, with the main entrance, staircase hall, and the
main lecture hall at the center. On the western and eastern
ends were the four main laboratories for Biology, Physics,
Organic Chemistry, and Inorganic Chemistry, altogether
linked with the central hall through a row of offices, with a
connecting corridor on the south side of the building.

In spite of the thoroughly modern function, the Science
Building was clad with a Thai-style facade. Main features
included the prominent use of hip-gable roof with wide
eaves, covered with traditional Thai terracotta roof tiles.

With wooden structure, this roof was placed atop a flat
concrete roof. The building had minimal decorative elements,
with simple, rectangular window openinegs, placed rhythmically
to subtly differentiate the laboratories from other parts.

Each window came in two parts. The lower part was an
awning window. The upper part consisted of two casement
windows flanking a fixed window at the center. There were
also small clerestory windows with Thai-style pointed arch
form. The exterior of the building was painted in white,

so the building was popularly called Tuk Khao,

or White Building.
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Tuk Khao thus became the main building for the Faculty of Science. In the
beginning, the lower floor was occupied by the library and the Departments of
Chemistry, Physics, and Mathematics, while Biology Department was located on the
upper floor. Later on, Physics Building and Chemistry | Building were built, in 1935
and 1940, respectively, some departments subsequently began to move out.
Nonetheless, there were several additions to the Science Building, especially the
construction of Chemistry Il Building to its east, in 1949. Later, the building was also
extended on the south and the west sides, both with the architectural style that
blends well with that of the original building.

NCE
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Chakrabongse Building

Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang)
and Luang Wisansinlapakam (Chua Patthamachinda)
1933

Chakrabongse Building, presently known as
Chulalongkorn University Memorial Hall, was located
between Faculty of Engineering and Faculty of Science.

In 1931 H.R.H. Prince Chula Chakrabongse granted the
university with the fund needed to build a new student
union building as a memorial to his father, H.R.H. Prince
Chakrabongse Bhuvanath, who had had a keen interest in
the administration and development of the university
since its foundation, until his untimely demise in 1920.

Established in 1922, Chulalongkorn University Student
Union was a large, two-storey wooden building. It was
located on the west side of the campus, close to the
resident halls. In 1931 Prince Chula Chakrabongse paid a
visit to the university. Seeing the ramshackle state of the
Union building, the prince graciously granted the university
with the fund of 20,000 baht, in order to build a new
student union building. In 1932, H.R.H. Prince Dhani Niwat,
Minister of Public Instruction, gave the task of designing the
building to Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang),
the Director of the Architectural Section, Department of
Fine Arts, together with Luang Wisansinlapakam (Chua
Patthamachinda). Construction took eight months, at the
cost of 18,900 baht. After completion, Chakrabongse
Building was officially opened on May 26th, 1933. H.R.H.
Prince of Rangsit presided over the inauguration ceremony.

At the time of the inauguration, Prince Chula Chakrabongse
was in England. Accordingly, he sent a coneratulatory message
to Chaophraya Thammasakmontri (Sanan Devahastin na
Ayuttthaya), the Minister of Public Instruction, part of which
reads:

“Every country in this world would consider the university
as the center of education, the center of a nation’s young men.
As this building would be the Union for our university, so it can
be said that it will also be the center of the university, in this
building, for the young men and women who will, in the future,
bring happiness and prosperity to the nation. . .. | am thus
overwhelmed with joy, just to think of the extremely important
task that this building will have, and of the fact that it has
already borne my father’s name.”

Chakrabongse Building was a two-storey reinforce concrete
structure. Originally it had a simple rectaneular plan, 12.00
meters wide and 14.00 meters long. On the north side there was
an entrance porch topped with a balcony, specially adorned
with balustrades. Inside there was a large hall, with a teakwood
staircase rising to the upper floor. It had a two-layered gable
roof with wraparound eaves. The roof was covered with
traditional Thai terracotta tiles. The gable boards on the
eastern and western side were adorned with the chakra
[disc-like weapon] and a short club, the personal insignia of
Prince Chakrabongse. Decorative elements were kept minimal.
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The height of the building was accentuated through the use of pilasters with
redented corners that ran double height, contrasting with the horizontal lines of
the mouldings at the base. Windows and doors were simple rectangles. Only the
entrance porch was particularly decorated with columns with redented corners
with hua met finials. Railings were adorned with Thai-style balustrades.

The old student union - a two-storey wooden structure — was relocated
to a plot of land south of Chakrabongse Building. It was then used as a canteen,
as well as for a range of activities, from badminton matches to convocation
ceremonies.

In 1953 Prince Chula Chakrabongse paid the university another visit and saw
that the Chakrabongse Building was in poor condition, its capacity inadequate for
the 3,000 students at that time. He thus graciously gave the university 200,000
baht to renovate the building. It was also enlarged, with the addition of a room
on the south side of the building. The plan thus became T-shaped, while the
traditional Thai style was carefully maintained. The building was re-inaugurated
on February 20th, 1954. The added room on the upper floor was occupied by
the Light and Sound Club of the C.U. Student Union. The club was established
in 1958, and later grew into Chulalongkorn University Broadcasting Station.

In 1986 the university undertook a major renovation of the building. It has
since served as Chulalongkorn University Memorial Hall, which was established
in 1977, on the occasion of the 60th anniversary of the university’s foundation.
H.R.H. Princess Maha Chakri Sirindhorn presided over the inauguration of the
Memorial Hall at Chakrabongse Building on March 26th, 1988.
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Engineering Building

Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang)
and Phra Charoenwisawakam (Charoen Chenakul)
1935

The Engineering Building, presently known as
Engineering | Building, was the Faculty of Engineering’s first
building of its own. Since its inception the faculty had
occupied a space in the Administrative Building until 1933,
when the dean, Phra Charoenwisawakam (Charoen Chenakul),
began to expand the curriculum to the bachelor’s degree
level. A part of Phra Charoenwisawakam’s plan was to
construct a building especially for the faculty, in a plot of
land with a grove of rain trees, south of the Administrative
Building. A civil engineer by training, Phra Charoenwisawakam
designed the building himself, in collaboration with Phra
Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang) of the Department
of Fine Arts. After construction was completed, the building
was inaugurated on July 13th, 1935, which was also the
convocation day for the first Bachelors of Engineering.

Originally the Engineering Building was a two-storey
reinforced concrete structure with symmetrical plan. It
consisted of lecture halls and faculty offices on both floors,
with an entrance hall and the main staircase at the center,
which was especially accentuated with a double-height

recess frame. Each end of the facade was accentuated with
a projecting mass with redented profile in the Art Deco style.
Elements of modern architecture include the use of parapet
on the rooftop, and the thin, flat reinforced concrete planes
of window awnings that were placed rhythmically, in
conjunction with the thin strips of window sills. The truth to
materials was best represented in the exposed brick walls
with extruded mortar joints. The entrance hall was decorated
with bas-relief panels showing the various duties of the
engineers. Each panel was encased with an Art Deco-style
recess frame, similar to the one on the outside marking the
entrance.

Later on, when the Faculty of Engineering began to
develop, a floor was added to the top, and the Engineering
Building became three-storey. The addition was covered with
a large gable roof, complete with small dormer windows
rhythmically arranged. In 1939 the faculty added another
building to the west of the original one. The new building,
known as Engineering Il Building, was inaugurated on June
24th, 1940. The original building thus became Engineering I.
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Chulalongkorn Un

iversity Auditorium

=

Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang)
and Phra Phromphichit (Ou Labhanonda)
1939

Built after the idea of Field Marshal Plaek
Phibulsongkhram, the university rector, Chulalongkorn
University Auditorium was originally meant to be an
assembly hall, to serve for convocation ceremonies,
as well as “other university functions involving professors,
students and guests such as the essay competition award
ceremony, special lectures, and the annual theatrical
events.” Following the University Council’s approval
of the rector’s idea, the Department of Fine Arts was
solicited for the design. Accordingly, the task was given
to Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang), the
Director of the Architectural Section. He was assisted by
Phra Phromphichit (Ou Labhanonda), who was in charge of
the Thai-style architectural details. Construction budget
was 332,000 baht, and Mr Sanga Wannadit was the
project’s contractor. Construction began on September
18th, 1938, and was completed on January 31st, 1939.
The building was inaugurated on March 30th, 1939, and
served for a convocation ceremony for the first time
on that day.

Chulalongkorn University Auditorium was a reinforced
concrete structure with a rectangular plan that faced toward
the main gate on Phyathai Road. The building was divided

into two parts. On the east side there was the main assembly
hall with 2,710 seats. The sloping floor was covered with
locally-made teakwood parquet tiles. On the east side was

a raised stage, with a proscenium adorned at the top with
the Phra Kieo, the princely coronet that was the university
symbol. Concrete ceiling panels were decorated with Thai-
style woodwork in the forms of stars and mouldings with
redented corners. The hall had a mezzanine on its three
sides, with two main staircases on the inside, and two on

the outside.

On the west side, the building was two-storied. There
was a reception room on the lower floor, and a conference
room on the higher floor, with a wide verandah wrapping
around the rooms on both floors. The exterior featured
large, double-height square columns, with cast-cement
capitals in applied Thai style. Railings between columns were
balustraded, in the style that corresponded to the design of
the Administrative Building nearby. The large gable roof was
covered with locally-made glazed tiles. The west part of the
hall was accentuated with a smaller gable, with long wrap-
around eaves in the style that Prince Narisara Nuvadtiwongs
created first at the ordination hall of Wat Rachathiwat.
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Since then the Auditorium has been the center of
Chulalongkorn University’s campus. It is also historically
significant, as a venue for convocation ceremonies since the
reign of King Ananda Mahidol, until present. It has also served
for numerous important functions.

In 1963 the Auditorium was partly remodeled, with MC
Vodhyakara Varavarn as the architect in charge. Two long,
covered terraces with reinforced concrete structure were added
to the sides of the building. The side walls of the assembly
room were replaced by “breathing walls” made of ventilating
cement blocks. Subsquently, in 1984 there was a major
renovation of the building, with Associate Professor Pinyo
Suwankiri as the architect in charge. An air-conditioning system
was installed throughout the building, so there was a total
overhaul of interior design, acoustic design, and illumination.
Presently the hall is undergoing another major renovation,
supervised by Phao Suwansaksri.
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The Art and Culture Building
(Chemistry I Building)

Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang)
1940

Located north of the main football field, east of the
Faculty of Architecture, Chemistry | Building was constructed
when Field Marshal Plaek Phibulsongkhram was the university
rector. In 1935 Field Marshal Plaek made an inspection tour to
the Faculty of Science Building and realized the inadequacy of
the chemistry laboratories there. Accordingly, he ordered the
construction of a new building, to specifically serve for the
teaching and learning of chemistry, both in theory and practice.
Phra Sarotrattananimman (Sarote Sukkhayang), the Director of
the Architectural Section, provided the architectural design.
Construction cost was 227,000 baht, with Mr. Sanga Wannadit
as the project’s contractor. Construction began in October 1938,
and was completed in August 1939. It was formally inaugurated
in 1940, on June 24th, the National Day, with H.R.H. Prince Wan
Waithayakon presiding over the ceremony.

Chemistry | Building was a two-storey reinforced concrete
structure. The U-shaped plan was 60.00 meters long, and
35.60 meters wide. At the center there was an entrance porch,
topped with a flat roof, leading into the main staircase hall.
According to the address given on the inauguration ceremony
in 1940:

“The lower floor includes a laboratory for first-year
students, capable of accommodating 134 students at once,
and a laboratory for second-year students, with a capacity of
85 persons. There are also four professors’ offices, two lab
preparation rooms, a weighing room, three 42-seat lecture halls,

and a restroom. On the upper floor there are two 308-seat
lecture halls, three laboratories for the third- and fourth-year
students, each of which can accommodate 32 students.
There is also a research lab, two weighing rooms, two lab
preparation rooms, four professors’ offices, two store rooms,
and three restrooms.”

Chemistry | Building was symmetrically planned in the
Classical tradition, but stylistically it was modern. Elements of
modern architecture include the use of tall parapets hiding the
actual roof, the thin, flat window awning projecting from the
body of the building, the reduction of decorative elements,
and the prominent use of modern construction materials such
as steel railings, terrazzo tile floor, and the absence of ceiling
panels, intentionally showing the finely-detailed reinforce
concrete structure. Laboratories windows are typical of Phra
Sarotrattananimman’s design. Each window came in two parts.
The lower part was an awning window. The upper part consisted
of two casement windows flanking a fixed window at the center.

In 2000 the Faculty of Science moved all teaching activities
from Chemistry | Building to the recently-completed Maha Makut
Building. Realizing the historical and architectural of the structure,
the university undertook a major renovation project, turning the
Chemistry | Building into a mixed-use art complex, with a recital
hall and exhibition spaces. Re-opened in 2007, the building has
since been renamed the Art and Culture Building.
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Chamchuri I-1I Building
(The Secretariat Building and the Office of the Yuwachon Nai Thahan)

=

Lucien Coppé
1941

The Secretariat Building and the Office of the Yuwa
chon Nai Thahan [Militarized Youth Movement], presently
know as Chamchuri | and Chamchuri Il Buildings, were
located on the west side of Phyathai Road, at the main
entrance of the campus. They were built when Field
Marshal Plaek Phibulsongkhram was the university rector.
Construction began in October 1940, and was completed in
a year. The buildings were simultaneously inaugurated on
June 24th, the National Day, in 1941. It was designed by
Lucien Coppé, a lecturer at the Faculty of Architecture.

Mr Nguan, of Tun Nguan Co., was the contractor; total
construction cost for the two buildings was 97,700 baht.

Located to the north, the Secretariat Building was a
two-storey reinforced concrete structure. Originally it had
a rectangular plan, with 8.50 meters in width and 31.00
meters in length, placed lengthwise along Phyathai Road.
The entrance porch and staircase hall were placed at the far
north corner of the facade, especially decorated with a pair
of double-height columns. There were long corridors along
the entire facade on both floors. The facade was adorned
with double-height pilasters; between the pilasters there
were simple arches on the lower floor, and balustrade
railings on the upper floor. Stylistically it was simplified,
austere Neoclassicism according to the contemporary taste.
The roof was of wooden structure, covered with corrugated

fibre-cement tiles, altogether concealed behind parapets.
Floor structure was reinforced concrete, covered largely with
teakwood, except for the corridors, which were paved with
colored terrazzo tiles. There were six rooms on the lower
floor that were used by the Accounts and Miscellaneous
Departments. On the upper floor there were five rooms that
served as the Rector’s Office, the Administrative Department,
and the Department of Statistics and Registry.

The Office of the Yuwachon Nai Thahan [Militarized Youth
Movement], presently known as Chamchuri Il Building, was
located to the south of the main gate. Of similar dimensions
and style, it was a mirror-image of the Secretariat Building,
with the entrance porch on the far south end of the facade.

Originally it was used as the office of the Yuwachon Nai Thahan.

It was successively occupied by the university’s Natural History
Museum, the health center, C.U. Cooperative Store, and the
Department of Mass Communication and Public Relations.
At present it is occupied by the university’s various offices.
Around 1958, a colonnaded gallery was constructed,
linking the two buildings together. Of reinforced concrete
structure, the gallery had a simplified Neoclassical style
featuring graceful double columns. Later on both buildings
were extended towards the west, turning the plans into
L-shapes that enclosed around the central quadrangle,
with gardens and a large pool.
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Architecture Building

C—=

Lucien Coppé
1941

Ajchitecture Building, presently called Architecture |
Building, is located on the east side of Phyathai Road, close
to the main entrance to the university on that side. It was
built when Field Marshal Plaek Phibulsongkhram was the
university rector. Construction began in March 1939, and
was completed in December of the following year. It was
formally inaugurated in 1941, on June 24th, the National
Day. It was designed by Lucien Coppé, a Belgian professor
at the Faculty of Architecture. Sanga Phanich Co. was the
contractor, with the construction budget of 131,200 baht.

A two-storey reinforced concrete structure, Architecture
Building had a long rectangular plan that ran along a campus
street, receiving through ventilation. It was 9.52 meters wide,
86.98 meters long, with the height of 11.50 meters, except
for the central part of the building, which was 16.00 meters
in height, with the entrance hall, a large lecture hall, and
the main staircase. The rooms had teakwood floors, except
for the corridors and the restrooms, which had concrete
floor with terrazzo tiles. Altogether there were 34 rooms.
The lower floor consisted of a professors’ office, an
administrative office, 6 lecture rooms (each of which was

7.00 x 8.90 meters in size), a janitor’s room, a supply room,
restrooms, and a store room for casts and drawing
instruments. On the upper floor there were lecture rooms,
professors’offices, a large lecture hall, studios, a library,
and restrooms. All rooms were placed on the south side
for maximum natural ventilation, with a long corridor on
the north side.

Architecture Building was symmetrically arranged in
planning, with Neo-Classical formal treatment. But there
were different styles of architectural decorations. According

to the address given on the 1941 inauguration of the building:

“The pilasters on the front side of the building were treated
with a variety of designs according to the art of architecture.
Thai decorative elements, such as column capitals, were
especially used in the main entrance.” The decorative
designs were allegedly the work of Siwawong Kunchorn na
Ayutthaya, the Department of Architecture’s first teaching
staff member who was a specialist in architectural history.
Another notable design feature was the use of round-shaped
windows at the far ends of the facade.
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While the Faculty of Architecture had developed, there
were additions and alterations to its main building. In 1951-
1952, a floor was added on top, making it a three-storey
building. Stairs were also added to both ends. Between 1956
and 1959, a three-storey block of studios was added to the
north, and a new roof was placed over the central mass of
the building, supported by ventilating blocks of pre-cast
cement. So-called “breathing walls” of ventilating blocks
were added to the ground-floor corridor. Later, sun-shading
devices made of fibre cement sheets on wooden frames
were also added onto the building.

Major additions to the Architecture Building include the
Dean’s Office (1969), designed by Assistant Professor Pratheep
Chantharaket, and the Nart Bodhiprasart Building (1992),
designed by Associate Professor Kiti Sindhuseka and Associate
Professor Oueychai Wutthikosit.
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Vach Vidyavaddhana Building

==

Ercole Manfredi
1941

Located on the southeast comner of the campus, on
the west side of Racecourse Road, Vach Vidyavaddhana
Building was constructed in 1941 for the School of Dentistry.

Dental education in Thailand was established by the
effort of Professor Colonel Luang Vach Vidyavaddhana
(Waht Yemprayura), with generous support from Field Marshal
Plaek Phibulsongkhram, the university rector. The School of
Dentistry was established as an independent program in
1940. Initially it had to temporarily use the Science Building,
while some courses were taught at the Faculty of Medicine,
Siriraj Hospital. At the same time, Luang Vach Vidyavaddhana
managed to get a budget and a permission from Chulalongkorn
University to build a new building on the west side of
Racecourse Road. Architectural design was executed by
Ercole Manfredi, an Italian professor at the Faculty of
Architecture. Construction began perhaps in 1940; it was
completed, and was subsequently inaugurated in 1940,
on June 24th, the National Day.

The School of Dentistry Building was a two-storey
reinforced concrete structure, with a long, rectangular plan
that ran in the east-west direction so that the building
received maximum amount of seasonal winds. The building
consisted largely of uniformly-sized rooms, with an entrance

porch on the east end of the building, facing Racecourse
Road. There was the main staircase going up to the upper
floor, and the main lecture hall with sloping floor to its south.
At the opposite end o the building there was another
entrance hall, and another staircase. Accordinely, the plan
was almost symmetrical, with long corridors on the entire
south side. As most of the rooms were on the north side,
they were easily ventilated.

An example of modern architecture, the building’s most
distinctive features include the stark pure forms that were
totally unadorned. Functions were externally pronounced
through massing and formal composition. Parapets ran around
the top of the building, concealing the low gable roof, while
parts of the building were covered with flat roof. The building
was also accentuated with reinforced concrete planes of the
long eaves, window awnings, and the porte cochére, all of
which were boldly cantilevered from the main body of the
building. Emphasizing structural clarity and modern building
materials, the building was plainly stuccoed. Vertical lines
of columns and horizontal lines of the building’s base and
parapet tops were accentuated with rugged gravel wash
texture, while the long horizontal line of railings was finished
with smooth terrazzo.
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Six months after the formal inauguration,
the Pacific War eventually reached Bangkok.
In December 1941, the Japanese Army occupied
the building, and the School of Dentistry was
temporarily closed. Subsequently it re-opened,
but had to use the old Science Building, since its
own building remained occupied until the war
ended in 1945. In the following year, the School
of Dentistry got its building back, and had since
developed into the Faculty of Dentistry.
Subsequently, the building was renamed as
Vach Vidyavaddhana Building, in honor of
Professor Colonel Luang Vach Vidyavaddhana,
the founder and the first dean of the Faculty.
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Political Science Building

&>

Ramphai Yatramongkhran
1952

Political Science Building, presently known as
Samranratborirak Building, was located near Orachon Canal,
alongside Racecourse Road (present-day Henri Dunant Road),
north of Saovabha Institute. In 1950, following the initiative
of University Rector MC Rachadabhisek Sonakul, the
university allocated a budget of 2,454,400 baht towards the
construction of the building, which was designed by Ramphai
Yatramongkhran, a lecturer at the Faculty of Architecture.
Construction began on November 4th, 1950, with Sanga
Phanich Co. as the contractor, and the final construction
cost of 2,355,000 baht. After construction was finished on
August 25th, 1951, the building was officially opened on
July 2nd, 1952, by Prime Minister Field Marshal Plaek
Phibulsongkhram, who also presided over the first Bachelor
of Arts in Political Science’s convocation ceremony on the
same day.

Since the establishment of the Civil Service College,
there was the School of Public Administration. However,
the Faculty was dissolved in 1933. Subsequently, in 1948
Chulalongkorn University established the Faculty of Political

Science. Luang Angkhananurak (Somthawin Thephakham),

a graduate of the School of Public Administration, proposed
the idea, which received a strong support from the Prime
Minister, Field Marshal Plaek. In the beginning, the Faculty
had used various spaces in the Secretariat, Faculty of Arts,
and Faculty of Commerce and Accountancy Buildings until
the government allocated the budget for the construction
of its own building. It should be noted that this was the first
time that the educational area got extended to the southern
part of the campus.

Political Science Building was a two-storey reinforced
concrete structure in traditional Thai style. The plan was a
long rectangle that received through ventilation, with three
gabled masses symmetrically arranged. The building was 10.50
meters wide, 84.80 meters long, with the height of 18.20
meters. Initially capable of accommodating 400 students, the
building consisted of 8 lecture rooms, a large meeting hall,

a library, administrative office, lecturers’ offices, students’
lounge, sports room, and restrooms.
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The most notable feature in this building is the
combination of traditional Thai architectural style and
modern construction materials and structural system.
Gable decorative elements and eave brackets were all
made of pre-cast concrete, in conjunction with the
prominent hip-gable roof, and the wraparound eaves
on the lower floor. This was typical of the style of
government buildings that were built during the final
years of Field Marshal Plaek’s premiership, which
prominently displayed Thai identity through the
external form.

Subsequently, the Faculty of Political Science
changed the name of the building to Samranratborirak
Building, in honor of Khun Samranratborirak (Chui
Tanthasopha), one of the first faculty members during
its inception. At present the upper floor is occupied
by the Departments of Public Administration and
Government, while the lower floor contains
lecture halls.
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Maha Vajiravudh Building
(Central Library)

-

Professor Boonyong Nikhrodhananda
1957

Central Library, presently known as Maha Vajiravudh
Building, was built after the command of Field Marshal
Plaek Phibulsongkram, Prime Minister and former Rector of
Chulalongkorn University. Prior to the construction of this
building, the University Library was merely a room in the old
Administrative Building (present-day Maha Chulalongkorn
Building), which was essentially a book storage, with
inadequate reading area, while the number of books had
increased exponentially. Accordingly, Professor Boonyong
Nikhrodhananda from the Faculty of Architecture was given
the task of designing the new library building. With the new
C.U. Auditorium completed in 1939 and became the new
physical center of the campus, the new library building
would complete the composition by being located to
the north of the Administrative Building and stood as its
mirror-image, with a long arcade linking the two buildings
together.

The Central Library was a three-storey building, with a
basement floor for book storage, and a construction budget
of 13,000,000 baht. Field Marshal Plaek thus ordered the
Ministry of Finance to provide the university with a series
of budgetary allocations for three consecutive years,

corresponding to the construction of the building, which
was divided into three phases. Construction of the first phase
began in 1953; in 1954 it was completed, and the Central

Library moved into the new building on May 24th of that year.

Construction of the remaining parts continued until the entire
building was completed in September 1956. The Central
Library was formally opened by Field Marshal Plaek on
January 3rd, 1957.

The Central Library had a symmetrical plan like the
Administrative Building, but with different details inside.
The third floor occupied the attic space underneath the large
roof, so the gables of the Central Library were fitted with
glazed windows. The building could hold 500,000 volumes,
with six reading rooms that could accommodate 350 readers.
There were also rooms for the Center for Audio-Visual Studly,
the Library of the Department of Education, lecture rooms for
the Library Science, Arts, and Commerce and Accountancy
Departments. Later addition included the Prince Kitiyakara
Voralaksana Collection, Periodicals Room, a special collection
of Thailand-related materials, and the library of H.M. King
Bhumibol Adulyadej’s musical compositions, among others.
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Later on, the Central Library outerew the capacity of
this building. In 1980 it moved to the recently completed
Mahathirarachanuson Building, on the western side of the
campus. The old Central Library Building was transformed
into the administrative offices and library of the Faculty of
Arts. It was also renamed Aksonsat Il. Later on, when the
old Aksonsat | Building was renovated and renamed Maha
Chulalongkorn Building, Aksonsat Il was rechristened as
Maha Vajiravudh Building, on the same occasion.
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Jaiyossompati | Building

==

Professor Chaloem Rattanathatsani and Boonsong Rohitasuk
1959

The Faculty of Accountancy and Commerce was
established at Chulalongkorn University in 1938, itinially as
the Accountancy and Commerce Program. The founder was
Phraya Jaiyossompati (Serm Krishnamra), former Minister of
Finance, who received full support from Field Marshal Plaek
Phibulsongkhram, then prime minister and university rector.
In 1940 the program became independent, and in 1949 the
first permanent building for the Faculty of Accountancy and
Commerce was constructed. Located near present-day
Borommaratchakumari Building, it was a small two-storey
building that was designed by MR Vodhyakara Varavarn.
The building - now demolished - was soon inadequate for
the fast-expanding faculty. Accordingly, by 1957 Professor
Phraya Jaiyossompati began an idea of constructing a new
faculty building. Incidentally, around that time there was a
major fire that blazed through a squatter community that

was occupying a plot of university-owned land on the east
side of Phyathai Road. The so-called Pillow 18 and Pillow

19 plots of land were thus cleared, and Field Marshal Praphas
Charusathien, the university rector then, decided to permit 25
rais of these plots of land for the construction of the new
Faculty of Accountancy and Commerce buildine.

A three-storey reinforced concrete structure raised on
stilts, the building was designed by Professor Chaloem
Rattanathatsani and Boonsong Rohitasuk, from the Faculty of
Architecture. Construction began on October 5th, 1959, and
the foundation stone laying ceremony was held on November
30th of the same year, presided over by Field Marshal Sarit
Thanarat, prime minister. After construction was completed
in 1961, the building was named Jaiyossompati Building,
in honor of Professor Phraya Jaiyossompati, the founder of
the faculty.
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Initially Jaiyossompati Building was a three-storey structure, with a long
rectangular plan that ran parallel with Phyathai Road. Stylistically it was Applied
Thai, as was the norm of government building architecture of the period.

The plan was symmetrical; at the center of the building on Phyathai Road side
there was a porte cochere with triple gable in reinforced concrete, supported by
slender steel columns. The porte cochére led to the entrance hall and the main
staircase, with office rooms and lecture halls on both sides. There was a long
connecting corridor on the west side of the entire building. The east facade on the
lower two floors was adorned with perforated concrete panels made of ventilating
cement blocks in simplified Thai-style form. The panels were placed rhythmically in
such a manner that the skeletal structure of the building was emphasized. The third
floor was rendered differently, with long rows of round columns supporting the
large gable roof that was also adorned with simplified decorations and decorative
eave brackets, all made with concrete.

In 1966, two wings were added to the north and south ends of the original
Jaiyossompati Buildine. Designed by Duane Yossundara, the new wings were
stylistically similar to that of the original building that was designed by Professor
Chaloem Rattanathatsani. After completion, the new wings were named
Jaiyossompati Il and Jaiyossompati Il Buildings, while the original part was
re-christened as Jaiyossompati I.
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Sala Phra Kieo

==

Professor MC Vodhyakara Varavarn
and Associate Professor Lert Urasyanandana
1967

In 1964 the university came up with the idea of
building a multi-purpose hall, in order to keep up with the
increasing number of student activities. There were many
students’clubs, social groups and other activities that were
beyond the capacity of the Chakrabongse Building.
Accordingly, a budget of 10,397,742 baht was allocated
towards the construction of Sala Phra Kieo, which would
be built south of Chakrabongse Building. Professor MC
Vodhyakara Varavarn and Associate Professor Lert Urasya-
nandana designed the building, under the name of the
Committee for the University’s Constructions. Silom
Construction Co. was the contractor. Construction was
completed on January 1st, 1966, and the building was
inaugurated on March 26th, 1967.

Sala Phra Kieo was a one-storey building with a
basement. Raised high above the ground level, the main
hall was a multi-purpose space for a large mass of students.
The central part of the hall’s floor was paved with teakwood
parquet, reminiscent of the wooden floor of a traditional
Thai pavilion. The surrounding floor areas were paved with
locally-produced ceramic tiles. Seating arrangements were
provided, as this served as a canteen as well. There was
also a mezzanine along three sides of the building; the one
on the east side was reserved for the meetings of the

Student Council, while the side mezzanines were meant to
serve the student clubs and social groups. On the west side
there was a walkway connecting to another building, an open
pavilion with rectangular plan that contained a canteen,
students’ lockers, and restrooms. This pavilion was also raised
up high; the lower level was occupied by the Faculty Club
and staff canteen. The basement of the Sala Phra Kieo was
originally designed to be a car park, but later was occupied
by shops and student clubs.

The sala, traditional Thai-style open pavilion, was the
key design concept, combining the knowledge of modern
reinforced concrete structure, tropical design, and the Thai
culture of multi-purpose space. Associate Professor Lert
Urasyanandana stated that:

“The sala originates from the central concept that
corresponds to the ever-changing needs of the students
as well as those outside the university who might need to
use the space for a range of functions. This leads to the
relationship between space and structure. The openness of
the construction, together with a few spatially-defined areas
as necessary, makes apparent the desien concept of this
building, in a frank and straightforward manner. This, in turn,
would help cultivating the sense of unity among the entire
student body, bringing success to any activities as are
already evident.”
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Sala Phra Kieo’s main structure lies in 12 hexagonal
columns that bear the main gable hovering above the main
hall. On each side there are 5 gabled spaces with sloping
walls, making the building visually levitating. The lower parts
of the walls are largely sliding glass screen, topped with open
glazing and ventilation windows. Accordingly, the form and
space of the building become one.

In 1978 the university undertook a major renovation of
the Sala Phrakiew, with a renovation budget of 19,000,000
baht. The main multi-purpose hall was kept, together with a
post office, Faculty Club, University Faculty Senate, and an
area for refreshments and food. Additional functions included
the C.U. Cooperative Store, C.U. Bookstore, a bank, and other
services. In 1985, the rectangular pavilion west of the main
hall was replaced by the Chula Chakrabongse Building, a
laree structure that was built to reduce the functional load
of Sala Phra Kieo. It houses the Office of the University
Faculty Senate, the Faculty Club, together with all the
student clubs that used to occupy Sala Phra Kieo.

At present, the university is undertaking yet another
major renovation of the building, in order to ensure Sala
Phra Kieo’s structural stability and up-to-date mechanical
system, so that it can continue the mission of providing a
multi-purpose space for the university well into the future.
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Map of the Architecture of Chulalongkorn University: The First Century
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